FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/25/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
8/25/2021 4:28 PM

No. 100137-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 81246-7-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ANTHONY SMITH and JULIE SMITH, a marital community, and ANTHONY SMITH as personal representative of the ESTATE OF MEAGAN SMITH.

Appellants,

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS and AMERICAN BEHAVIORAL HEALTH SYSTEMS, INC., a Washington corporation,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CORR CRONIN LLP

A.	Identity of Petitioners and Decision Below				
B.	Issues Presented for Review				
C.	St	Statement of the Case			
	1.	Craven Was Known to the DOC as a Highly Violent Offender	2		
	2.	Procedural History	6		
D.	Argument Why Review Should be Granted				
	1.	The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's holdings in <i>Joyce</i> and <i>Taggart</i> . (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4))	7		
		a. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's holding in <i>Taggart</i>	8		
		o. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's holding in <i>Joyce</i>	9		
	2.	The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's decision in <i>Volk.</i> (RAP 13.4(b)(1))	2		
	3.	In disregarding the Smiths' evidence of causation, the Court of Appeals invaded the province of the jury by impermissibly weighing the parties' conflicting evidence and deciding as a matter of law an issue that should have gone to the jury 1	4		
		a. The Court of Appeals improperly weighed the evidence in the light most favorable to the DOC to conclude as a matter of law that the Smiths could not establish cause in fact			
		o. The Court of Appeals' conclusion that the Smiths could not establish legal causation as a matter of law conflicts with the legal standard on summary judgment and this Court's holding in <i>Taggart</i>	_		
	4.	The Court of Appeals' decision addresses issues of substantial public interest as a matter of first impression. (RAP 13.4(b)(4))			
E.	C	nclusion2	20		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases					
Afoa v. Port of Seattle, 160 Wn. App. 234, 247 P.3d 482 (2011)					
Barber v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co., 81 Wn.2d 140, 500 P.2d 88 (1972) . 14					
Busenius v. Horan, 53 Wn. App. 662, 769 P.2d 869 (1989)					
Estate of Bordon ex rel. Anderson v. State, Dep't of Corr., 122 Wn. App. 227, 95 P.3d 764 (2004)					
Joyce v. State, 155 Wn.2d 306, 119 P.3d 825 (2005)passim					
Larson v. Nelson, 118 Wn. App. 797, 77 P.3d 671 (2003)					
Milson v. City of Lynden, 174 Wn. App. 303, 298 P.3d 141 (2013) 13					
Nivens v. 7-11 Hoagy's Corner, 133 Wn.2d 192, 943 P.2d 286 (1997) 12					
RAP 13.4(b)(2)					
Taggart v. State, 118 Wn.2d 195, 822 P.2d 243 (1992) passim					
Versuslaw, Inc. v. Stoel Rives, LLP, 172 Wn. App. 309, 111 P.3d 866 (2005), rev. denied, 156 Wn.2d 1008) (2006)					
Volk v. DeMeerler, 187 Wn.2d 241, 386 P.3d 254 (2016)					
Volk v. DeMeerler, 187 Wn.2d 241, 386 P.3d 254 (2016)					
<i>Volk v. DeMeerler</i> , 187 Wn.2d 241, 386 P.3d 254 (2016)					
Volk v. DeMeerler, 187 Wn.2d 241, 386 P.3d 254 (2016)					
Volk v. DeMeerler, 187 Wn.2d 241, 386 P.3d 254 (2016) 1, 12, 13 Statutes 8, 9 RCW 72.04A.080 8, 9 RCW 9.94A.030(21) 4					
Volk v. DeMeerler, 187 Wn.2d 241, 386 P.3d 254 (2016) 1, 12, 13 Statutes 8, 9 RCW 72.04A.080 8, 9 RCW 9.94A.030(21) 4 RCW 9.94A.501(1) 4, 9					
Volk v. DeMeerler, 187 Wn.2d 241, 386 P.3d 254 (2016) 1, 12, 13 Statutes RCW 72.04A.080 8, 9 RCW 9.94A.030(21) 4 RCW 9.94A.501(1) 4, 9 RCW 9.94A.501(4)(f) 4, 9					
Volk v. DeMeerler, 187 Wn.2d 241, 386 P.3d 254 (2016) 1, 12, 13 Statutes RCW 72.04A.080 8, 9 RCW 9.94A.030(21) 4 RCW 9.94A.501(1) 4, 9 RCW 9.94A.501(4)(f) 4, 9 RCW 9.94A.631 10					
Volk v. DeMeerler, 187 Wn.2d 241, 386 P.3d 254 (2016) 1, 12, 13 Statutes RCW 72.04A.080 8, 9 RCW 9.94A.030(21) 4 RCW 9.94A.501(1) 4, 9 RCW 9.94A.501(4)(f) 4, 9 RCW 9.94A.631 10 RCW 9.94A.660(3) 3					
Volk v. DeMeerler, 187 Wn.2d 241, 386 P.3d 254 (2016) 1, 12, 13 Statutes RCW 72.04A.080 8, 9 RCW 9.94A.030(21) 4 RCW 9.94A.501(1) 4, 9 RCW 9.94A.501(4)(f) 4, 9 RCW 9.94A.631 10 RCW 9.94A.660(3) 3 RCW 9.94A.704 9					
Volk v. DeMeerler, 187 Wn.2d 241, 386 P.3d 254 (2016) 1, 12, 13 Statutes RCW 72.04A.080 8, 9 RCW 9.94A.030(21) 4 RCW 9.94A.501(1) 4, 9 RCW 9.94A.501(4)(f) 4, 9 RCW 9.94A.631 10 RCW 9.94A.660(3) 3 RCW 9.94A.704 9 RCW Ch. 96.96 4					

Treatises

Restatement (Second) of Torts (Section 315)	1	2,	13
Restatement (Second) of Torts (Section 319)	pa	assi	im

A. Identity of Petitioners and Decision Below.

Petitioners Anthony and Julie Smith, and Anthony Smith as personal representative of the Estate of Meagan Smith (collectively, "Petitioners" or "the Smiths"), seek review of Division One's July 26, 2021 decision (App. A) affirming the summary judgment dismissal of the Smiths' wrongful death claim against the Department of Corrections ("DOC").

B. Issues Presented for Review.

- 1. Does the Court of Appeals' decision that the DOC's "take charge" duty over offenders sentenced to community custody cannot, as a matter of law, arise unless and until the DOC decides to assign a Community Corrections Officer ("CCO") conflict with this Court's prior decisions expressly holding that a "take charge" duty can arise from statute or court order?
- 2. Does the Court of Appeals' decision that the DOC did not have a special relationship with an offender that the DOC had previously characterized as "highly violent" conflict with this Court's decision in *Volk v. DeMeerler*, 187 Wn.2d 241, 386 P.3d 254 (2016)?
- 3. Does the Court of Appeals' holding that no special relationship exists between the DOC and an offender ordered into its immediate supervision prior to the assignment of a CCO create an issue of substantial public interest by (a) encouraging the DOC to delay assigning a CCO in order to avoid assuming any take charge duty and (b) allowing the DOC to escape liability for any crimes the offender commits while under DOC supervision but prior to the assignment of a CCO?

4. Did the Court of Appeals incorrectly weigh conflicting evidence, thereby invading the province of the jury, by concluding as a matter of law that the DOC's failure to supervise an offender under its control could not have been a proximate cause of Meagan Smith's murder?

C. Statement of the Case.

1. Craven Was Known to the DOC as a Highly Violent Offender.

Zachary Craven had a long history of criminal conduct before he murdered 21-year-old Meagan Smith on July 7, 2015. In 2011, Craven pled guilty to Animal Cruelty for stabbing his grandmother's cat to death. (CP 864) The next year, he was arrested for assaulting his mother and was twice reported to the authorities for mental health issues. (CP 864) In 2013, Craven held his grandmother, Angelika Hayden, at knife-point; after telling her, "[Y]ou know I'm crazy, *I'll kill you*," he using electrical cords to tie her up and steal her debit card. (CP 860-61) He was eventually convicted of, and sentenced to, 12 months in community custody under DOC supervision for First Degree Theft, Driving Under the Influence, and Felony Harassment for attacking and threatening to kill his grandmother. (CP 860-61)

The DOC assigned community corrections officer ("CCO") Wayne Derouin to Craven's case. (CP 399) While under DOC supervision, Craven repeatedly violated the terms of his community custody. (CP 385) He was terminated from his substance abuse treatment program, repeatedly drank alcohol and used controlled substances, and never provided proof that he

received a required mental health evaluation. (CP 351, 386, 388-90) Craven also refused to report to the DOC when ordered to do so, and the DOC issued a warrant at least once when he went missing. (CP 392) CCO Derouin learned on at least one occasion that Craven was hostile toward his then-girlfriend Theresa Cunningham, as well as her family. (CP 386) The DOC's supervision of Craven arising from the 2013 convictions ended in December 2014. (CP 382-83)

However, on September 8, 2014, while Craven was still under DOC supervision, he again attacked his grandmother. (CP 352) Craven demanded that she drive him to the hospital because he needed pain medication. (CP 352) During the drive, he told her that he was going to "kill her dog" and "slit her throat," and "twice jerked the steering wheel of the moving car." (CP 352) Craven "emphasized that he could end both of their lives at any time." (CP 352) The police arrested Craven who, according to his grandmother, "had not been taking prescribed medication and . . . was more prone to violence under these circumstances." (CP 352) Craven plead guilty to felony harassment for the 2014 attack on his grandmother on April 1, 2015. (CP 337-41)

On June 26, 2015, King County Superior Court Judge Benton sentenced Crave to a condition-laden residential drug offender sentencing alternative ("DOSA"). (CP 361-75) The DOSA statutes, enacted as part of the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981 ("SRA"), ch. 9.94 RCW, authorize a court to sentence an eligible offender to community custody in lieu of serving a prison sentence. RCW 9.94A.660(3). The DOC supervises

offenders sentenced to community custody. RCW 9.94A.030(21); .501(1), (4)(f). Judge Benton specifically ordered:

The defendant shall serve 24 months in community custody under the supervision of the DOC, on the condition that the defendant enters and remains in residential chemical dependency treatment certified under RCW Ch. 96.96 for 3-6 (between 3 and 6) months. The DOC shall make chemical dependency assessment and treatment services available during the terms of community custody, within available resources.

Pending DOC placement in residential chemical dependency treatment, the defendant is ordered to attend a DOC day reporting center and follow all applicable rules. The defendant shall report to the DOC to being the day reporting program within 24 hours of his release.

(CP 365)

The Judgement and Sentence ("J&S") mandated that Craven "comply with the treatment and other conditions proposed in the examination report"; "not use illegal controlled substances and [sic] submit to urinalysis or other testing to monitor compliance"; "not use any alcohol or controlled substances without prescription"; "undergo testing to monitor compliance"; "report as directed to a community corrections officer"; and submit to a mental health evaluation. (CP 365, 375) Judge Benton also imposed a Domestic Violence No Contact Order, prohibiting Craven from contacting his grandmother for a maximum of five years. (CP 365)

Judge Benton expected Mr. Craven to be "immediately under the supervision of the DOC when [she] signed the judgment and sentence on June 26, 2015" and that "the DOC [would] enforce the terms of Mr.

Craven's sentence and alert the Superior Court for the issuance of an immediate arrest warrant should he fail to comply." (CP 813) She signed the J&S with the understanding that the "DOC immediately had the authority to regulate Mr. Craven's movements and monitor his behavior to ensure he complied with all terms of his sentence, including reporting to the DOC, entering treatment, and abstaining from drugs, alcohol, and violence." (CP 813) Judge Benton was "aware that Mr. Craven was classified by the DOC as highly violent, and that absent his compliance with the terms of his sentence, including residential treatment, he was a risk to the community and may reoffend." (CP 813) She entrusted the "DOC to enforce the terms of Mr. Craven's sentence," "alert the Superior Court for issuance of an immediate arrest warrant should he fail to comply," and "detain Mr. Craven even absent a bench warrant" "if he violated a condition of his sentence." (CP 813)

On July 1, 2015, Craven failed to report for residential treatment at ABHS, the treatment facility. (CP 482-83) Instead, Craven went to the home of Robert Luxton, whom Craven referred to as his grandfather. (CP 256, 390) Craven, who appeared to be under the influence of heroin and methamphetamine, threatened Mr. Luxton's life while holding a gun to his head before pistol whipping him across his forehead. (CP 256, 282) Mr. Luxton filed a police report the following day. (CP 282)

ABHS notified the DOC of Craven's failure to show up for treatment on July 2, 2015, after Craven had already assaulted Luxton. (CP 440, 456-57) The DOC did not investigate Craven's disappearance. On July

5, 2015, Craven violated his the Domestic Violence No Contact Order by going to his grandmother's home. (CP 282) Two days later, on July 7, Craven first shot and killed his grandmother. Later that same day, Craven went to the home where his ex-girlfriend Cunningham lived with her parents. (CP 283) Craven had previously threatened to hurt Cunningham, her family, and her friends. (CP 270) Cunningham's best friend, Meagan Smith, was housesitting for the Cunningham family when Craven arrived at the home. (CP 268, 284-86) Craven shot and killed Meagan. (CP 286)

On July 8, 2015, Craven was arrested for the murders he had committed while under DOC supervision. (CP 787) That same day, the DOC claims that it first became aware that Craven had been sentenced to community custody under DOC supervision *twelve days* earlier. (CP 332, 359) The DOC assigned Deruoin as Craven's CCO on the day of Craven's arrest for two murders. (CP 332, 359)

2. Procedural History

On July 3, 2018, Meagan's father, Anthony Smith, as personal representative of his daughter's estate, sued the DOC and ABHS for survivorship and wrongful death arising from their negligent supervision of Craven. (CP 1-7) Meagan's parents, Anthony and Julie, later amended their complaint to add claims on their own behalf. (CP 26-34)

On January 24, 2020, the DOC and ABHS each filed motions for summary judgment dismissal of the Smiths' claims. (CP 44-71, 401-20) The trial court granted both motions and dismissed the Smiths' claims on February 21, 2020. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court in its July

26, 2021 opinion. The Smiths now seek review of the Court of Appeals' decision dismissing the Smiths' claims against the DOC.

D. Argument Why Review Should be Granted.

1. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's holdings in *Joyce* and *Taggart*. (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4))

Washington has adopted Section 319 of the *Restatement (Second) of Torts* (hereinafter, "Section 319"), under which an actor "who takes charge of a third person whom he knows or should know to be likely to cause bodily harm to others if not controlled" has a duty to exercise "reasonable care to control the third person to prevent him from doing such harm." Section 319; *Taggart v. State*, 118 Wn.2d 195, 219, 822 P.2d 243 (1992) (adopting Section 319). Premised on a flawed interpretation of this Court's decisions in *Taggart* and *Joyce v. State*, 155 Wn.2d 306, 119 P.3d 825 (2005), Division One erroneously held that a "take charge" duty of an offender sentenced to community custody can *never* exist, as a matter of law, prior to the moment the DOC decides to assign a CCO.

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Joyce* and *Taggart*, which held that the DOC's take charge duty arises from its "authority to supervise" the third party—an authority that can arise from a statute or a J&S (and the conditions of release contained therein). The Court of Appeals' decision requiring the assignment of a CCO as a prerequisite to the take charge duty conflicts with this Court's precedent and "drastically narrow[s] the State's duty of reasonable care as a matter of law"—a result this Court expressly rejected in *Joyce*. This Court should grant review under

RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4) to clarify this conflict and settle this question of significant public interest and safety.

a. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's holding in *Taggart*.

The Court of Appeals disregarded this Court's decision in *Taggart* by concluding that the Smiths failed to demonstrate that the DOC "had a definite, established, and continuing relationship with the offender it failed to supervise" (App. A at 6-7) solely because the DOC had not assigned a CCO to Craven's case on the day of Meagan's murder—despite Craven having been sentenced to *immediate* DOC supervision 12 days earlier. Division One's holding plainly contradicts this Court's decision in *Taggart*.

In *Taggart*, this Court examined RCW 72.04A.080, under which parolees "shall be subject to the supervision of the department of corrections, and the probation and parole officers of the department shall be charged with the preparation of progress reports of parolees and to give guidance and supervision to such parolees within the conditions of a parolee's release from custody." This Court held that "[t]his statute is sufficient to establish that parole officers have a 'definite, established and continuing relationship' with their parolees." 118 Wn.2d at 219. This Court then expressly relied on the fact that "[p]arole officers have the statutory authority under RCW 72.04A.080 to supervise parolees" in concluding that the DOC was subject to a take charge duty under Section 319. 118 Wn.2d at 219.

There is no material difference between the statute at issue in *Taggart* and the residential DOSA statute under which Craven was sentenced. Similar to RCW 72.04A.080, the residential DOSA statute expressly requires the DOC to supervise offenders who, like Craven, have been court ordered into community custody: "The department *shall* supervise an offender sentenced to community custody . . ." RCW 9.94A.501(4)(f) (emphasis added); *see also* RCW 9.94A.501(1), RCW 9.94A.030(21). Just as RCW 72.04A.080 establishes a special relationship because it requires parole officers to supervise parolees and give them "guidancewithin the conditions of a parolee's release from custody," RCW 9.94A.704 requires the DOC to supervise those sentenced to community custody and "instruct the offender to . . . [r]eport as directed to a [CCO], [and] [r]emain within prescribed geographical boundaries." RCW 9.94A.704(3).

The Court of Appeals erred by holding that there could be no "definite, continuing and established relationship," and therefore no take charge duty, unless and until the DOC appoints a CCO. Under *Taggart*, a statute itself can give rise to that relationship; that statutory authority to supervise offenders may, in turn, impose a take charge duty upon the DOC.

b. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's holding in *Joyce*.

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts even more blatantly with this Court's holding in *Joyce*. Thirteen years after *Taggart*, this Court further clarified the proper standard for a Section 319 duty:

The duty arises from the special relationship between the government and the offender. The judgment and sentence and the conditions of release are critical because they create the relationship, which in turn creates the duty.

Joyce, 155 Wn.2d at 318.

In *Joyce*, the DOC "rightly" conceded that "the State's authority to supervise *arises* from the conditions of release contained in a judgment and sentence for a crime," but asked this Court "to hold that when it [the DOC] is not specifically *ordered* to do an act, it has no *duty* to do the act." 155 Wn.2d at 315, 320 n.3 (emphasis in original). This Court rejected the DOC's attempt "to drastically narrow the State's duty of reasonable care as a matter of law." 155 Wn.2d at 315. Instead, and consistent with the principles set forth in *Taggart*, this Court focused its inquiry on the DOC's "authority to supervise." 155 Wn.2d at 315. This Court noted that the DOC has a statutory authority to "monitor" offenders and is "authorized to report violations of the conditions of release to the sentencing judge, if they deem it appropriate" under the SRA. *Joyce*, 118 Wn.2d at 310-11 (citing RCW 9.94A.631). This Court concluded unequivocally concluded that the DOC's authority to supervise arises from the J&S and conditions of release.

Here, the Court of Appeals disregarded *Joyce* by erroneously holding that, "[u]ntil a CCO is appointed, there is no one to establish a relationship with the offender." (App. A at 8) The Court of Appeals' holding is fatally flawed for three critical reasons. (App. A at 8) First, *Joyce* expressly states that the "*judgment and sentence and the conditions of*

release . . . create the relationship, which in turn creates the duty." 155 Wn.2d at 318 (emphasis added). *Joyce* makes abundantly clear that the J&S and conditions of release "are critical because *they* create" "the special relationship between the government and the offender." 155 Wn.2d at 318 (emphasis added).¹

Second, the SRA, which created the DOC's "authority to supervise" in *Joyce*, includes the residential DOSA statutes under which Craven was sentenced. Just as in *Joyce*, the DOC assumed its "authority to supervise" under the SRA upon entry of the J&S. Third, Division One misinterpreted *Joyce* in concluding that a CCO "assume[s] a duty" under Section 319 only "by taking steps to ensure that the offender complies with all conditions of release." (App. A at 6) Again, this Court has clearly held that it is the entry of the "judgment and sentence and the conditions of release" that "create the relationship" between the offender and the government, "which in turn creates the duty." 155 Wn.2d at 318. A CCO's individual actions to ensure that the offender then *complies* with the conditions of release do not <u>create</u> the duty; such actions simply go to whether the DOC <u>breached</u> its duty.

Division One's decision that *only* the assignment of a CCO can create a take charge duty directly contradicts *Taggart* and *Joyce*. This Court should accept review to resolve the Court of Appeals' "drastic" narrowing

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