FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/20/2021 4:20 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100137-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ANTHONY SMITH and JULIE SMITH, a marital community, and ANTHONY SMITH as personal representative of the ESTATE OF MEAGAN SMITH,

Appellants,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS and AMERICAN BEHAVIORAL HEALTH SYSTEM, INC., a Washington Corporation,

Respondents.

STATE RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON *Attorney General*

KAYLYNN WHAT

Assistant Attorney General
WSBA No. 43442
800 5th Ave., Ste. 2000
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 389-2794; OID #91019
Counsel for Respondent

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

V. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Review should be denied for four reasons. First, the Smiths have not shown that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with Supreme Court precedent. Rather, the Court of Appeals carefully examined precedent and its decision fully comports with this Court's case law. Second, the Smiths have not shown that this case, and the related decision, presents an issue of substantial public importance because the decision is both unpublished and deals with a unique set of facts. Third, there is

no issue of substantial public importance that should be determined by this Court because DOC worked on a statutory amendment that addresses the public safety concerns argued by the Smiths that is now available to sentencing judges. RCW 9.94A.664(1)(b). Finally, the Smiths' arguments regarding proximate cause do not fall within any of the considerations governing discretionary review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b), and regardless, the Court of Appeals did not err in finding that the Smiths could not show proximate cause.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Adheres to Precedent

There are two types of common law special relationships that, under the right facts, can create a duty to protect a third person such as Ms. Smith: *Restatement (Second) of Torts* §§ 315 and 319. This Court, in *Taggart*, explained that §§ 316-320 define various special relationships that arise pursuant to § 315 and determined that § 319 is the most relevant to parole supervision cases. *Taggart v. State*, 118 Wn.2d 195, 219, 822 P.2d 243 (1992). Consistent with case law, the Court of Appeals

found that neither § 315, nor the more specific § 319, applies here. *Smith*, slip op. at *8-10. Under either section, the touchstone for finding a duty is the existence of a definite, established, and continuing relationship. There is no such evidence here. *Id*.

1. The unpublished decision follows *Taggart* and *Joyce*

The Court of Appeals carefully examined and followed the leading cases regarding negligent supervision, noting that "all involved supervision where a CCO or parole officer had been assigned and had engaged in contact and supervision of the offender." *Smith*, slip op. at *7. For example, in *Taggart*, parolee Brock had been on active supervision for seven months and saw his parole officer weekly; parolee Geyman reported for supervision the day after his release and had been on active supervision for five months. *Taggart*, 118 Wn.2d at 200-03. In *Joyce*, offender Stewart had been on supervision for almost two years. *Joyce v. Dep't of Corr.*, 155 Wn.2d 306, 311, 314, 119

P.3d 825 (2005). In Estate of Davis, offender Erickson had been on supervision for approximately six months. Estate of Davis v. *Dep't of Corr.*, 127 Wn. App. 844, 837-38, 113 P.3d 487 (2005). And, in *Estate of Bordon*, offender Jones reported to his CCO after his release, who then filed violation reports when Jones failed to return for intake. Estate of Bordon v. Dep't of Corr., 122 Wn. App. 227, 232-34, 95 P.3d 764 (2004). In each of these cases, the offender had made contact with their CCO, supporting the establishment of a special relationship. Smith, slip op. at *6-9. The assignment of the CCO or parole officer is critical because it is only through continuing supervision by a CCO that a definite, continuing, and established relationship can be formed. Indeed, the requirement of "definite, continuing, established" relationship only makes sense in the context of an actual human relationship, as opposed to flowing from an order or statute, as suggested by the Smiths. While an order or statute can be described definite, it makes no sense to describe them as continuing and established.

a. The unpublished decision is consistent with *Taggart*

The Smiths cannot provide any case law showing that a special relationship has been found absent contact between an offender and their CCO. Instead, they argue that the parole statute was sufficient in *Taggart* to create the relationship, therefore the DOSA statute should be sufficient here. *See* Pet. at 8-9. The Smiths ignore the context of the decision in *Taggart*, where supervision contact was occurring weekly, and the difference between the parole system and the current supervision system. The Smiths also ignore the *Taggart* opinion itself, which clearly stated that the duty was connected to the *relationship* with the parole officer.

As already discussed, the parolee in *Taggart* had weekly contacts with his parole officer. In deciding whether a duty would attach pursuant to the *Restatement*, this Court determined that § 319 was most relevant, because it discusses the "take charge" relationship. *Taggart*, 118 Wn.2d at 219. In addition to

the statutory authority relied on by the Smiths in their argument by analogy, the Court went on to discuss the actual control exerted. For example, the State can regulate the parolee's movements, require the parolee to report to a parole officer, impose special conditions such as refraining from alcohol or undergoing treatment, and order the parolee not to possess firearms. *Id.* at 220. But this is only possible through an actual parole officer: "The parole officer is the person through whom the State ensures that the parolee obeys the terms of his or her parole." Id. The officer should know the parolee's criminal history and should monitor the parolee's progress during parole. Id. "Because of these factors," the Taggart Court held, "parole officers have 'taken charge' of the parolees they supervise for purposes of § 319." Id. Contrary to the Smiths' arguments otherwise, the special relationship was not based on a statute alone, but on the contact and control an officer had with an offender.

Moreover, even if the *Taggart* Court based the special relationship there on the statutory authority and nothing more, as argued by the Smiths, Pet. at 8-9, the statutory scheme has changed. When *Taggart* was decided, prisoners were released from DOC's custody directly to DOC's parole officers who supervised parole. Under the current statutory scheme, DOC must now first confirm that an offender, who may never have been in its custody, is subject to supervision pursuant to RCW 9.94A.501. To do so, DOC must receive and analyze the offender's judgment and sentence to determine if the offender is statutorily subject to supervision. Finally, RCW 9.94A.704(1), passed in 2008, requires that the person sentenced to community custody "report to and be placed under the supervision of the department, subject to RCW 9.94A.501." Laws of 2008, ch. 231, § 10 (emphasis added).

The Smiths argue that DOC must supervise anyone sentenced to a residential DOSA pursuant to RCW 9.94A.501(4)(e)(f), and that this is similar to the parole

statute at issue in *Taggart*, RCW 72.04A.080, such that a special relationship should be *automatically* applied. Pet. at 9. But unlike the parole system, where parolees are released from DOC custody into DOC supervision, DOC is not notified in advance that an offender has been sentenced to community supervision before receipt of the judgment and sentence. CP 331-32.

b. The unpublished decision is consistent with *Joyce*

The Court of Appeals' unpublished decision does not conflict with this Court's decision in *Joyce*. A special relationship and the corresponding duty is not triggered by entry of a judgment and sentence, but rather arises "once the State has taken charge of an offender." *Joyce*, 155 Wn.2d at 310. The judgment and sentence is necessary to create the relationship, the *Joyce* Court explained, because not all judgments translate into a take charge duty—some, like legal financial obligations, do not involve a take charge relationship at all. *Joyce*, 155 Wn.2d at 319. After reviewing prior case law regarding supervision, the

Court held that a duty existed because "[t]he Department maintained a definite, established, and continuing relationship *by* assigning a community corrections officer to monitor and to notify the judge if Stewart failed to substantially comply with the court's conditions of release." *Id.* at 320 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals correctly followed this case law in holding that DOC must have contact through a CCO to establish a special relationship with an offender sentenced to community supervision. It was not deciding an issue of first impression, even though no decision had addressed analogous facts, but merely applying established case law, from which this conclusion logically follows. DOC cannot "take charge" of an offender without contact with that offender.

2. The unpublished decision adheres to Volk v. DeMeerleer

Evidence of a definite, established, and continuing relationship is necessary to show a special relationship under § 315, just as it is required under § 319. *Volk v. DeMeerleer*, 187 Wn.2d 241, 256, 386 P.3d 254 (2016). The Court of Appeals

correctly determined that DOC did not have an ongoing relationship with Offender Craven. *Smith*, slip op. at *10. The previous supervision had ended, and the newly ordered supervision had not yet commenced. *Id*. The Smiths make two arguments that allege the Court of Appeals got this analysis wrong, both of which lack merit.

The Smiths first argue that *Taggart* held that a statute alone can be sufficient to establish the relationship, that the DOSA statute is similar to the parole statute discussed in *Taggart*, and that this is sufficient to create a relationship under § 315. Pet. at 12-13. The decision in *Taggart*, however, based a § 319 "take charge" relationship on DOC's ability to exert control over an offender through contact with a parole officer. Moreover, the *Taggart* Court determined that § 319 is the appropriate section under which DOC's supervision of offenders should be analyzed, and did not find a separate § 315 relationship.

The Smiths next argue that the analysis in Volk did not focus on the length of the relationship or frequency of contact, but instead focused on the psychiatrist's insight into the potential dangerousness of his patient. Pet. at 17. But as the Court of Appeals rightly noted, the parties in *Volk* agreed the relationship was special. Smith, slip op. at *10 (citing Volk, 187 Wn.2d at 274). As a matter of law, any special relationship between DOC and Craven based on the previous supervision ended when that supervision ended. See Hungerford v. Dep't of Corr., 135 Wn. App. 240, 258, 139 P.3d 1131 (2006) (holding that "DOC owes a duty to those who are injured during an offender's active supervision, not after it ends"); see also Couch v. Dep't of Corr., 113 Wn. App. 556, 571, 54 P.3d 197 (2002) (holding that the duty of care ends when direct supervision ends and finding no duty to prevent future crimes).¹

¹ This Court also rejected an argument that sought to expand the take charge duty into one that "could include all reasonably foreseeable dangers, even those that might occur long

While the Smiths argue that there are disputes of fact from which a jury could determine DOC had unique insight into Craven's history giving rise to a § 315 duty, the only material fact related to this argument is when Craven's previous supervision ended. *See* Pet. at 13. It is undisputed that Craven's previous supervision ended on December 26, 2014. CP 331.

Any knowledge of Craven's potential to reoffend after his previous supervision ended and before his new supervision began is insufficient to trigger any duty of DOC. To hold otherwise would render DOC strictly liable for any crime committed by a former supervisee simply based on DOC's prior supervision, in the absence of any ability to control the offender's conduct. Such a result is not contemplated by prior case law, which instead requires showing a definite, established, and *continuing* relationship, as the Court of Appeals correctly held here. *Smith*, slip op. at *10.

after the take charge duty has ended" in *Binschus v. State*, 186 Wn.2d 573, 579, 380 P.3d 468 (2016).

B. Given the Singular Nature of This Case, This is Not an Issue of Public Importance

As provided above, the Smiths have not shown that the Court of Appeals' decision here conflicts with precedent, as would merit review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Likewise, they have not shown that their petition presents an issue of substantial public importance that should be determined by this Court because it does not involve an issue of first impression and the legislature has already acted to eliminate the safety risk.

1. This case does not present an issue of first impression

As an initial matter, the Court of Appeals' decision is unpublished. Pursuant to GR 14.1, it has no precedential value and is not binding on any court. Consistent with the appellate court's decision not to publish, this case involves singular facts that are unlikely to be repeated, thus it does not present an issue of substantial public importance under RAP 13.4(b)(4). At the time of summary judgment, January 2020, DOC supervised 21,364 offenders. CP 76. There is no evidence that any other

9.94A.501 committed a string of crimes as Craven did here before DOC was able to assign a CCO under its five-day assignments policy. While the Smiths allege this case addresses a matter of first impression, its rarity is in its unique set of facts. See Pet. at 19. Just because this particular factual situation has not been addressed, however, does *not* mean that the law that applies to it is unclear.

To constitute an "issue of first impression," the issue must be one of unsettled law. In this Court's most recent "first impression" case, the question was whether the brother of the deceased had standing to sue for tortious interference with a corpse. Fox v. City of Bellingham, 197 Wn.2d 379, 383, 482 P.3d 897 (2021). To decide the case, this Court reviewed the origins and historical development of the tort itself, examined relevant authority, and queried how neighboring jurisdictions had treated the issue. Id. at 384-88. Similarly, in State v. Blake, 197 Wn.2d 170, 173, 481 P.3d 521 (2021), the "issue of first impression"

was whether the strict liability drug possession statute that penalized passive conduct exceeded the legislature's police power. The result depended on a careful and searching analysis of constitutional principles, extensive review of state and federal case law, and reference to secondary sources. *Id.* at 197-95.

Here, however, the law is clear. In every special relationship case, there must be evidence of "a definite, established, and continuing relationship" for a duty to attach. *E.g., Taggart*, 118 Wn.2d at 219; *Joyce*, 155 Wn.2d at 320. In *every* case finding such a relationship between DOC and an offender, there has been contact between the offender and an officer assigned to supervise their release in the community. *E.g., Taggart*, 118 Wn.2d at 200-03; *Joyce*, 155 Wn.2d at 311, 314. Here, there was no such evidence. The Court of Appeals examined this Court's prior holdings and its holding is consistent with that case law.

2. A statutory amendment address any public safety concerns

Finally, any safety concerns that the Smiths raise regarding future, similar factual situations have already been addressed by the legislature. Sentencing courts used to hold offenders in custody between sentencing and treatment. CP 327. That practice ended when the Court of Appeals determined there was no authority to do so in *State v. Bergen*, 186 Wn. App. 21, 344 P.3d 1251 (2015). DOC and other stakeholders, including superior court judges, were concerned that the Bergen decision did not account for the time delay between sentencing, DOC's actual receipt of a judgment and sentence and ability to assign a CCO, and the offender's treatment date. CP 327. DOC was actively involved in workgroups that introduced legislation to amend the DOSA statute to provide sentencing judges with the authority to incarcerate offenders following sentencing to facilitate the direct transfer to a treatment facility. CP 328. Now, RCW 9.94A.664(1)(b), effective January 1, 2021, provides this authority. Laws of 2020, ch. 252 § 3.

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